2003

West Jordan City v. Daniel H. Smith : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

II. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a final judgment entered by the Honorable Terry L. Christiansen of the Third Judicial District Court, West Valley Department, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah. The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) (2002), whereby the Defendant in a district court criminal action may take an appeal to the Court of Appeals from a final order for anything other than a first degree or capital felony. Appellant was convicted of Resisting Arrest/Failure to Comply, a class B misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-8-305; Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, a class B misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37a-5(1) (2003); Disorderly Conduct, a class C misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann., Section 76-9-102; and Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol and/or Drugs, a class B misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-44 (1998).

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES & STANDARDS OF REVIEW

a) **Issue 1.** Did the district court err in failing to suppress evidence obtained from a blood draw where the Defendant did not consent, and where any alleged consent was not freely and voluntarily made? This issue was preserved for appeal through the filing of Defendant's Motion to Suppress and the trial court's ruling thereon. (R. 65-70 and 315, pp. 3-6)

Standard of review. This Court "review[s] the factual findings underlying the trial court's decision to grant or deny a motion to suppress

evidence using a clearly erroneous standard.” State v. Veteto, 2000 UT 62, ¶8 (citing State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 939 n.4 (Utah 1994)). ”However, . . . the trial court’s conclusions of law based on these findings [are reviewed] for correctness, with a measure of discretion given to the trial judge’s application of the legal standard to the facts.” Id.

b) **Issue 2.** Did the district court err in failing to allow the defense to introduce evidence of prior assaultive behavior of the arresting officers pursuant to the self-defense statute which allows evidence of prior violence? This issue was preserved for appeal by Defendant’s attempt to offer the evidence at trial, the City’s objection thereto, and the trial court’s ruling to sustain that objection. (R. 320 pp. 116, 125-128, and 182)

Standard of review. “Because the admission of evidence under Rule 404(b) is a question of law, it is reviewed for correctness. However, the trial court’s subsidiary factual determinations should be given deference by the appellate court and only be overruled when they are clearly erroneous.” State v. O’Neil, 848 P.2d 694, 695-696 (Utah App. 1993) (citing State v. Taylor, 818 P.2d 561, 569 (Utah App. 1991)). “We review a trial court’s decision to admit evidence under rule 404(b) . . . under an abuse of discretion standard. We review the record to determine whether the admission of other bad acts evidence was ‘scrupulously examined’ by the trial judge ‘in the proper exercise of that discretion.’” State v. Mead, 2003 UT App 39, ¶61 (citing State v. Nelson-Waggoner, 2000 UT 59, ¶16, 6 P.3d 1120)).

c) **Issue 3.** Was sufficient evidence presented to convict the Defendant of Disorderly Conduct? This issue was preserved for appeal by the jury's verdict convicting Defendant of Disorderly Conduct. (R. 319, p.354)

Standard of review. This Court "review[s] the evidence of a jury verdict and all inferences that can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the verdict. State v. Richards, 779 P.2d 689, 690-91 (Utah App. 1989) (citing State v. Tolman, 775 P.2d 422, 424 (Utah App. 1989)). "We reverse such a verdict" only when the evidence is so lacking and insubstantial that a reasonable person could not have reached that verdict beyond a reasonable doubt." Richards, 779 P.2d at 691 (citing State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 192 (Utah 1987)).

IV. DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

STATUTES

Utah Code Ann., Section 41-6-44.10 (attached as Exhibit A)

Utah Code Ann., Section 76-2-402 (attached as Exhibit B)

Utah Code Ann., Section 76-9-102 (attached as Exhibit C)

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

The subject case is a criminal case wherein the Defendant was arrested and charged with Resisting Arrest/Failure to Comply; Assault against a Police Officer; Possession of Drug Paraphernalia; Disorderly Conduct and Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol and/or Drugs. (R. 01-06).

B. Course of the Proceedings

Defendant entered pleas of not guilty to all charges and a demand for trial by jury. (R. 08-09) Prior to trial, Defendant filed a Motion to Suppress the blood test result stemming from Defendant's DUI arrest on the grounds that Defendant did not consent to the blood test and/or that his consent was not freely and/or voluntarily given. (R. 65-69) The trial court denied Defendant's Motion to Suppress. (R. 315, pp. 3-6)

Prior to trial, Defendant also filed a Subpoena Duces Tecum to obtain copies of the arresting officers' personnel files, including any and all information pertaining to the officers' use of excessive force during other arrests. (R. 124-125) The City filed a Motion to Quash the Subpoena Duces Tecum and a Memorandum in support thereof. (R. 114-123) Following a hearing on the Motion to Quash, the trial court determined that it would review the subject personnel files, *in camera*, and would then release all potentially exculpatory evidence contained in the arresting officers' personnel files to defense counsel. (R. 317, p. 5)

At trial, defense counsel attempted to introduce as evidence information from said files pertaining to prior instances wherein the officers had used excessive force or violence during arrests, including civil lawsuits that had been filed against the officers alleging such conduct. (R. 320 at p. 116) The City objected and the officers were questioned regarding this information outside of the presence of the jury. (R. 320 at pp. 116-124). The trial court then

determined that such information constituted inadmissible prior acts under Rule 404(b) of the Utah Rules of Evidence and was not admissible under the self-defense statute. (R. 320 at pp. 125-128). At the conclusion of the trial, the case was submitted to the jury for verdict.

C. Disposition

After deliberating on the evidence, the jury returned a verdict of “Not Guilty” on Count II, Assault Against a Police Officer, and “Guilty” on all remaining counts. (R. 319 at p. 354) There were no post-trial motions filed by either party.

D. Statement of the Facts

Facts Surrounding Consent Issues

1. On or about March 7, 2002, West Jordan Police Officer Saunders was dispatched to the vicinity of 8750 South 4560 West on the report of a suspicious vehicle. (R. 320, p.67, lines 21-23)

2. Officer Saunders approached the subject vehicle and asked the occupant of the vehicle to produce his identification. Defendant complied with this request and provided Officer Saunders with his drivers license. (R. 320, p. 72, lines 15-23).

3. Following officer Saunders’ initial contact with the defendant, Officer Kwant arrived on the scene and the two proceeded to ask Mr. Smith to exit his vehicle. (R. 320, p.78, lines 8-11)

4. Shortly after Mr. Smith exited his vehicle in compliance with the officers' request, a lengthy physical altercation occurred which resulted in Mr. Smith being physically injured as a result of his head being slammed into an open truck door, pepper spray that had been deployed, hits from the officers' fists and batons, and being subdued by additional officers. (R. 320, pp. 109-114)

5. Eventually, the Defendant was placed in both hand and ankle cuffs, and physically restrained by a number of officers. (R. 320, p. 153, lines 2-16)

6. Subsequently, a search warrant for a sample of the Defendant's blood was sought by Officer Hahn. Before obtaining the warrant, Officer Hahn spoke to Officers Saunders and Kwant, and the two officers explained to Hahn that there was quite a struggle; that Mr. Smith had been pepper sprayed; that in the altercation, officers had hit Mr. Smith with their fists and batons; that eventually there were quite a number of officers on the scene; and that a number of the officers had to hold Mr. Smith down and restrain him. (R. 314, pp. 30, 31 and 34)

7. Further, in viewing Mr. Smith on the gurney being put into the ambulance, Officer Hahn saw that Mr. Smith's face was bloody and also later saw the injuries to Mr. Smith's body at the hospital. (R. 314, pp. 31-34)

8. Individuals were trying to interact with Mr. Smith and were requesting that he cooperate in receiving medical treatment. Mr. Smith did not want medical help. (R.314, p.28, lines 11-20)

9. Officer Hahn never asked for consent at this time for a blood sample or any other chemical test. (R. 314, p.19, lines 5-11 and pp. 35-36)

10. Thereafter, Officer Hahn sought and obtained a blood draw search warrant from the justice court judge. Within the affidavit in support of that warrant, Officer Hahn admittedly made a number of false statements and omissions. (R. 314, pp. 40-45)

11. In doing so, Officer Hahn swore that the Defendant “refused” or failed to perform a chemical test. After obtaining the warrant, Officer Hahn went to Jordan Valley Hospital to serve the warrant. (R. 314 pp. 40-45)

12. When Officer Hahn arrived at Jordan Valley Hospital, Mr. Smith was located in an area of the emergency room. Another officer had been watching over Mr. Smith, and left when Officer Hahn arrived. (R. 314, p. 47, lines 14-25 and p. 48, lines 1-5)

13. When Officer Hahn went into Mr. Smith’s room, two nurses and a doctor were already treating Mr. Smith. One nurse was starting an IV and Mr. Smith had seemingly calmed down. (R. 314, p. 50)

14. In the hospital room, Mr. Smith was still in cuffs and restrained to the hospital bed. He was not fighting against the restraints and was not yelling

obscurities. However, he was still a bit agitated and confused. (R. 314, pp. 49-50)

15. Mr. Smith complained of pain and was describing to medical personnel his injuries. (R. 314, p. 50, lines 7-16)

16. Moreover, at the hospital, Mr. Smith was mainly under the watch of Officer Hahn. However, Officer Saunders was also at the hospital and would at times relieve Officer Hahn for breaks. (R. 314, p. 51, lines 9-20)

17. It is unknown what was said to Mr. Smith while under the watch of Officer Saunders, one of the individuals involved in the prior altercation. (R. 314, p. 51, lines 21-25; and p. 52, line 1)

18. At some point, Officer Hahn attempted to obtain Mr. Smith's consent to a blood draw. (R. 314, p.52, lines 2-5)

19. Officer Hahn claims that he informed Mr. Smith that he was under arrest for DUI and questioned Mr. Smith as to whether he understood. Mr. Smith allegedly responded, "I guess." (R. 314, p.20, lines 9-14)

20. Officer Hahn then read the admonition from the DUI form to request consent and requested a blood test. Mr. Smith allegedly responded, "Sure, I'll pee in a cup, too." (R. 314, p 21, lines 8-16)

21. Ultimately, the blood technician arrived and drew blood from Mr. Smith. The blood technician instructed Mr. Smith how to be cooperative, and Mr. Smith did not act counter to the instructions. (R. 314, p. 24)

22. In the context of these circumstances, the City decided to not rely on the warrant as a basis for the blood draw, but on consent and claimed that Mr. Smith consented to a blood draw.

Facts Surrounding Issues of Officers' Prior Violence

23. Prior to trial, counsel subpoenaed personnel files of three of the arresting officers. (R. 124-125)

24. At trial, counsel sought to question the officers concerning allegations of prior unreasonable beatings during arrest. (R. 320 at p. 116)

25. The City objected and the officers were questioned out of the presence of the jury. (R. 320 at pp. 116-124)

26. In this questioning – (both had suits filed against them, and one had been accused on two prior occasions of overzealousness) – the district court judge found that such evidence was inadmissible prior acts under 404(b) and not admissible under the self-defense statute. (R. 320 at pp. 125-128)

Facts Surrounding Issues of Insufficient Evidence of Disorderly Conduct

27. Officer Saunders testified that Mr. Smith was “verbally belligerent” and called the officer names. (R. 320, p. 78, lines 19-21)

28. Officer Saunders testified that Mr. Smith “resisted” the officers and had to be forced to the ground. (R. 320, p. 79, lines 17-25)

29. Officer Saunders testified that he and Officer Kwant were trying to grab Mr. Smith’s arms to take him into custody and Mr. Smith started screaming. (R. 320, p. 82, lines 1-2)

30. Officer Saunders offered testimony regarding a physical altercation that took place between the officers and Mr. Smith and acknowledges that during the altercation, the officers stuck Mr. Smith several times with batons and fists, pepper-sprayed him twice, took him down to the ground with a “hair pull” maneuver and were “yelling” at Mr. Smith to stop resisting. (R. 320, pp 80-88)

31. Officer Saunders testified that he yelled at Mr. Smith to “get on the ground” and that Mr. Smith complied with this command. (R. 320 p. 110, lines 14-22)

32. Officer Saunders testified that while Officer Kwant was hitting Mr. Smith with a baton, Officer Saunders was yelling at him to “quit resisting.” (R. 320 p. 111, lines 3-14)

33. In describing Mr. Smith’s conduct, Officer Kwant testified as follows:

We attempted to try to put the hands behind the back, he started to pull away from us and started to resist, tightening up his muscles in an attempt to pull away from us. He muttered something that we know better than do this and we continue to tell him, you know, quit resisting us, just cooperate and relax. He continued to pull away and at one point I think he broke away from our grasp and turned around and we immediately tried to reattach and regained control of him.

(R. 320 p. 142, lines 9-17)

34. Officer Kwant testified that he initiated a “hair pull” take down of Mr. Smith and that during the course of this take-down, Mr. Smith’s face and

head stuck the open door of his vehicle, and Officer Saunders deployed his pepper spray on Mr. Smith at that time as well. (R. 320, pp. 144-145)

35. Officer Kwant acknowledges that while Mr. Smith was face-down on the ground, flailing during the subject arrest, his face was being scraped across the asphalt. (R. 320, p.148, lines 18-25 and p. 149, lines1-2)

36. Officer Kwant acknowledges striking Mr. Smith with his asp baton two to three times on his back shoulder-blade and once in his leg. (R. 320, p. 151, lines 4-25)

37. Officer Kwant also witnessed Officer Saunders strike Mr. Smith two times in the abdomen with his fist and spray him with pepper-spray on at least two occasions as well during the altercation. (R. 320 p. 152, lines 11-25)

38. Officer Kwant testified that Mr. Smith was screaming throughout the physical altercation with the police officers. (R. 320, p.150, lines 5-8)

39. Officer Haun testified that when he initially spoke to the defendant, Mr. Smith yelled profanities at him and at the other paramedics and officers. (R. 319, p. 199, lines 12-15)

40. In describing the manner in which Mr. Smith was yelling, Officer Haun testified as follows: "He was yelling, but when he was yelling, it was slowed down. It was taking him a while to blurt things out. It was slurred. It was very difficult to understand." (R. 319, p. 200, lines 9-11)

41. Officer Haun acknowledged during his testimony that Mr. Smith could have been yelling "in pain." (R.319, p. 217, lines 14-18)

42. Officer Haun also acknowledged that Mr. Smith was moaning. (R. 319, p. 218, lines 1-2)

43. Witness Dolores Lopez testified that she heard Mr. Smith yelling and it sounded to her like he was “yelling in pain.” (R. 319, p. 271, lines 6-8).

44. In response to the question “was Mr. Smith yelling anything,” witness Mandy Burke testified that she heard Mr. Smith saying “Stop, don’t hit me,” and “stuff like that.” (R. 319, p. 280, lines 2-5)

45. Another witness, Caddo Wadsworth, testified that Mr. Smith was “yelling every time a police officer would hit him.” According to Mr. Wadsworth’s observations, Mr. Smith was just “reacting” to what the officers were doing to him. (R. 319, p. 301, lines 7-21.

46. The jury was instructed with respect to the elements that the City must prove in order for it to convict the defendant of the offense of disorderly conduct. Specifically, the court instructed the jury as follows:

Before you may convict the defendant of the offense of disorderly conduct, every one of the following elements must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) that the events took place in West Jordan, Salt Lake County, Utah; and

(2) on or about March 7, 2002, the defendant

(a) after a request to desist, refused to comply with the lawful order of the police to move from a public place; OR

(b) knowingly created a hazardous or physically offensive condition by any act which serves no legitimate purpose OR

- (c) intending to cause public annoyance or alarm or recklessly creating a risk thereof (1) engaged in violent, tumultuous or threatening behavior; (2) made unreasonable noises in a public place; (3) made unreasonable noises in a private place which could be heard in a public place; or (4) obstructed vehicle or pedestrian traffic.

(R. 319, p. 328, lines 19-25 and p. 329, lines 1-8)

47. The City failed to introduce any testimony at trial that Mr. Smith was ever asked to move from a public place.

48. The City failed to introduce any testimony at trial that Mr. Smith knowingly created a hazardous or physically offensive condition during the subject arrest.

49. The City failed to introduce any testimony at trial with respect to whether any noises made by Mr. Smith during his arrest were reasonable and/or unreasonable.

50. The City failed to introduce any testimony at trial with respect to whether Mr. Smith intended to cause public inconvenience annoyance or alarm or recklessly created a risk thereof during his arrest.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Defendant's Motion to Suppress the blood evidence obtained in this case should have been granted. Due the condition of the Defendant at the time the consent was solicited, as a result of the severe beating and intimidation the Defendant had just suffered at the hands of the police officers, the Defendant could not have consented to the blood draw and/or any alleged consent

obtained was not freely and voluntarily given. The trial court's failure to grant Defendant's Motion to Suppress constitutes reversible error.

Defendant should have been allowed to introduce evidence of the police officers' prior assaultive behavior during other arrests under Subsection (5) of the self-defense statute that allows the introduction of prior acts of violence in support of a claim of self-defense. The trial court's failure to allow this information into evidence constitutes reversible error.

Finally, there was insufficient evidence presented at trial to support a conviction of the Defendant for the crime of disorderly conduct. Consequently, the same should be overturned.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE OBTAINED FROM A BLOOD DRAW WHERE THE DEFENDANT DID NOT CONSENT AND WHERE ANY ALLEGED CONSENT WAS NOT FREELY AND VOLUNTARILY GIVEN.

It is well established that "the Fourth Amendment prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures, including where the drawing and ensuing chemical analysis of blood is concerned." State v. Bredehoft, 966 P.2d 285, 292 (Utah App. 1998) (citations omitted) Admittedly, a search "conducted pursuant to a consent that is voluntary in fact does not violate the fourth

amendment.” Id. However, in this case, the Defendant asserts that he neither consented, nor that any alleged consent was voluntary.¹ According to Bredehoft, whether the requisite voluntariness exists depends on “the totality of all the surrounding circumstances—both the characteristics of the accused and the details of police conduct.” Bredehoft, 966 P.2d at 292-293 (citing State v. Arroyo, 796 P.2d 684, 689 (Utah 1990) and Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973)). Indeed, “[c]onsent is not voluntary if obtained as the product of duress or coercion, express or implied.” State v. Bisner, 37 P.3d 1073, 1088 (Utah 2001). As such, in determining whether a defendant voluntarily consented to a warrantless search, “[w]e further look to see if there is clear and positive testimony that the consent was unequivocal and freely given.” Bredehoft, 966 P.2d at 293 (citations omitted). In making this determination, courts look to several factors:

Specific factors guiding the voluntariness determination include (1) the absence of a claim of authority to search by the officers; (2) the absence of an exhibition of force by the officers; (3) a mere request to search; (4) cooperation by the [party being searched] and (4) the absence of deception or trick on the part of the officer.

Bredehoft, 966 P.2d at 193 (citing State v. Whittenback, 621 P.2d 103, 106 (Utah 1980)). See also, Bisner, 37 P.3d at 1088.

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