2003

West Jordan City v. Daneil H. Smith : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The trial court correctly ruled that the blood evidence should have been allowed to be used during the trial. Defendant's motion to suppress the blood evidence in this case should not have been granted. Defendant gave his consent to the blood draw verbally as well as by implied consent.

The trial court correctly ruled that Defendant should not have been allowed to introduce allegations of prior uses of excess force by the arresting officers. The self defense statute, Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-402 (5)(d), does not apply to this case, since the defendant must have knowledge of prior violent behavior by the others involved to be able to invoke this subsection of the statute. The Defendant in this case had no prior dealings with the officers, thus the subsection does not apply. Furthermore, the Defendant cannot invoke the self-defense statute where the force employed by the defendant was during the course of the Defendant's own arrest. A Defendant cannot use force in defense of an arrest under Utah law.

Finally, defendant's conviction for disorderly conduct is supported by the record and by applicable statutes. The Defendant screamed and yelled at officers on a public street while the Defendant fought against officers as they conducted an arrest. These actions drew the attention of the public to the Defendant's arrest. The Defendant, while fighting police officers, was reckless as to whether such fighting, tumultuous conduct would also cause public annoyance or alarm. The conviction for disorderly conduct should be upheld.

VI. ARGUMENTS

A. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE EVIDENCE OBTAINED FROM THE BLOOD DRAW WAS ADMISSIBLE. THE DEFENDANT'S CONSENT TO THE BLOOD DRAW WAS FREELY AND VOLUNTARILY GIVEN.

Courts have long recognized that “a warrantless search conducted pursuant to a consent that is voluntary in fact does not violate the fourth amendment.” State v. Webb, 790 P.2d 65, 82 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (citing Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 219 (1973)). Utah courts have indicated that “generally, whether the requisite voluntariness exists depends on the totality of all the surrounding circumstances—both the characteristics of the accused and the details of the police conduct.” State v. Arroyo, 796 P.2d 684, 689 (Utah 1990) (citing Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 226).

The Court in State v. Bredehoft enumerated specific factors that guide the voluntariness determination. These factors include the following: “1) the absence of a claim of authority to search by the officers; 2) the absence of an exhibition of force by the officers; 3) a mere request to search; 4) cooperation by the party being searched; and 5) the absence of deception or trick on the part of the officer” State v. Bredehoft, 966 P.2d 285, 293 (Utah App. 1998) (citing State v. Whittenback, 621 P.2d 103, 106 (Utah 1980)). In addition, in the context of a warrantless blood draw, additional considerations include whether the defendant resisted the blood draw or reasonably believed the blood was being drawn for medical rather than law enforcement purposes. Bredehoft at 293.

The facts of this case show that the blood draw was obtained through Defendant's consent. First, Smith verbally assented to the blood draw, even volunteering that he would also consent to giving a urine sample. Furthermore, Smith's actions indicate his consent to the blood draw. Similar to the defendant in Bredehoft, Smith "did not resist, say "no," or object in any way..." Id. at 293. On the contrary, Smith cooperated with Officer Hahn and the technician who drew the blood sample. Cooperation alone, even without verbal consent, has been found to be consent for a blood draw in the absence of resistance or struggle by the defendant. Id. at 293. In this case, Defendant both verbally consented and physically cooperated with the blood draw.

Officer Hahn's testimony further demonstrates that Smith's consent was freely given. Officer Hahn never claimed that he had any legal right to draw the blood without the defendant's consent. Officer Hahn merely requested that the Defendant give his consent to a blood draw, while reading from a DUI admonition form. No deception or trickery was used by Officer Hahn in obtaining consent. He stated to the Defendant that the blood sample was for police purposes and was not for hospital purposes. The Defendant had already had a blood sample taken by the hospital.

Lastly, Officer Hahn did not use physical force or threats to obtain the blood sample, and was not involved in the struggle to arrest the Defendant. Any physical confrontation between Smith and the other officers had occurred almost two hours before. At the time of the blood draw the Defendant was in a hospital receiving treatment, not at the police station, which also decreases the coercive nature of the request. See Bredehoft at 293. The situation was no longer volatile and the defendant

had calmed down considerably. The trial court found these facts persuasive in determining the initial conflict with police did not render the Defendant's consent to be involuntary. Thus, Officer Hahn asked for the consent of the defendant for a blood draw in the absence of coercive factors. The trial court was correct to deny the motion to suppress the evidence. This Court should accord a measure of discretion to the trial court's application of the facts surrounding Officer Hahn's interview, and affirm the trial court's conclusion that the prior conflict with police did not negate the voluntariness of Defendant's consent.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY PROHIBITED THE DEFENSE FROM INTRODUCING EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, UNRELATED, CONDUCT OF THE ARRESTING OFFICERS.

Prior to trial, defendant subpoenaed personnel files of three of the arresting officers. (R. 124-125). At trial, defense counsel sought to question the officers concerning allegations of prior unreasonable beatings during arrest. The City objected and the officers were questioned out of the presence of the jury. The district court judge found that such evidence was not admissible under the self-defense statute. (R. 320 at pp. 125-128). This ruling was correct and should not be reversed for two reasons. First, the self-defense statute does not apply to situations where the defendant does not know of the other person's prior violent acts. Second, defendants are not allowed to invoke the statutory justification defenses, including self-defense, when the charge is resisting arrest or assaulting a police officer.

The self-defense statute, Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-402, does not apply because the part of the section that the defendant emphasizes requires defendant's knowledge of prior violent acts by the other parties. Without knowledge of others' prior violent acts the defendant would have no reason to use self-defense. Utah courts interpreting the self-defense statute have indicated that the defendant should have knowledge of prior violent acts for this part of the self-defense statute to be invoked. See State v. Starks, 627 P.2d 88 (Utah 1978) (Jury instruction of victim's prior violent acts should have been given when defendant had knowledge of victim's prior acts).

Furthermore, Utah Courts have indicated that a defendant cannot use the self-defense statute to combat a charge of resisting arrest. Thus, any exclusion of the officer's prior violent acts is harmless, since the defendant could not have used the self-defense statute as a defense. Under the law of the State of Utah, a citizen may not use force to resist an arrest, even an illegal arrest, unless an officer is acting wholly outside of the scope of his authority as a peace officer in the State of Utah. State v. Gardiner, 814 P.2d 568, 574 (Utah 1991).

The Utah Court of Appeals, in interpreting Gardiner, rejected the proposition that a person may invoke the statutory justification defenses against a charge of resisting arrest. Salt Lake City v. Smoot, 921 P.2d 1003, 1010 (Utah App. 1996). At the time that Officers Kwant and Saunders arrested the defendant they were in uniform, had arrived at the street where the defendant was parked in a marked patrol vehicle, and were acting in response to a call to the police department. Under these facts it is obvious that the officers were not "engaging in a personal frolic of their own." Gardiner at 574.

Accordingly, the officers were acting within the scope of their authority, and the defendant was without right to use force to resist the officers' actions.

The trial court was correct to exclude evidence of prior violent acts by the police officers. Additionally, any decision to not allow evidence of the officer's prior actions was harmless to the Defendant, since he is not permitted to invoke the statutory defenses.

C. DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO MARSHAL ALL EVIDENCE BEFORE THIS COURT IN SUPPORT OF JURY'S CONVICTION FOR THE OFFENSE OF DISORDERLY CONDUCT.

Defense Counsel's marshaling of evidence before this Court presents an incomplete view of the evidence presented to the jury when it convicted the defendant for Disorderly Conduct. ""To demonstrate that the evidence is insufficient to support [a] jury verdict, the one challenging the verdict must marshal the evidence in support of the verdict and then demonstrate that the evidence is insufficient when viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict."" State v. Hopkins, 989 P.2d 1065, 1069 (Utah 1999); *quoting* Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch., 817 P.2d 789, 799 (Utah 1991).

The Brief of Appellant avoids any discussion of the evidence presented to the jury from a video and audio recording of this incident. Failure to present the video and audio recordings invites this Court to overturn the Jury's verdict without first examine all evidence submitted at trial.

Before approaching the Defendant for the first time, Officer Saunders had parked his patrol vehicle perpendicular to the driver's side of the Defendant's vehicle, to video record this incident from a patrol vehicle camera. Officer Saunders further utilized an

audio recorder during his interaction with the Defendant. (*See generally* R. 320 p. 66, lines 11-25; pp., 67, 68, 69). A general examination of Officer Saunders' testimony reveals that his testimony oftentimes serves as a mere supplement to explain the details of events submitted to the Jury vis-à-vis the video and audio recording.

Officer Saunders' video and audio recording of this incident preserved several violent acts committed by the defendant which, when coupled with his continued shouting, caused public alarm. Presentation of Officer Saunders' recordings enabled the Jury to consider whether the Defendant's shouting, and acts of violence were unreasonable. Once the recordings are omitted from the present discussion, Defense Counsel suggests to this Court that each instance in which the Defendant screams occurs in reaction to force employed by the officers. This argument calls for an inquiry into the chronology of the struggle in between the Defendant and police, which audio and video recordings would irrefutably establish.

Appellee further submits that the audio recordings of this incident document several instances where Officers Saunders and Kwant tell the Defendant to relax and stop resisting. This evidence is crucial to consider whether Appellee satisfied its burden to show the defendant continued to engage in fighting or violent, tumultuous, threatening behavior after receiving a command to desist.

D. THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED IN THIS CASE IS SUFFICIENT TO REASONABLY SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR DISORDERLY CONDUCT

The evidence presented by the City satisfied the elements required for a conviction of disorderly conduct. In order to sustain a conviction for disorderly conduct the City must prove one of three alternative theories. Although the City need only prove one of the three theories, evidence presented at trial is such that a reasonable jury could have convicted under at least two of these three theories.

The first alternative that would establish disorderly conduct is that the Defendant refused to comply with the lawful order of the police to move from a public place. Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-102 (a)(1) (2004). The City concedes that because Defendant was in an intoxicated state the officers who first arrived at the scene did not ask him to move his motor vehicle from the intersection.

The second theory the City can advance for a disorderly conduct conviction is that the Defendant knowingly created a hazardous or physically offensive condition. Id. In this case, evidence presented at trial established that Defendant had stopped his truck perpendicular to the curb with the truck jutting out into the street. Police were originally called to the crime scene by concerned citizens because Defendant's truck was in the intersection, posing a hazard to passing automobiles. Because Defendant's car was in the roadway there was only enough room for one lane of traffic to get around his car, increasing the likelihood of an accident between two cars trying to maneuver around the Defendant. Defendant created a "physically offensive" and dangerous condition for

every passing vehicle. This circumstance was aggravated by the Defendant's subsequent kick to his own truck, which caused the same to roll further into the intersection.

In addition, Defendant resisted arrest by the police officers, posing danger to the police officers, thus creating a hazardous condition. Since the officers were attempting to arrest the Defendant near his car, the altercation between the police officers and the Defendant occurred in the street, in full view of neighbors who witnessed the incident. This caused a hazardous situation for Defendant, the police officers, and any passing vehicles during the altercation.

Finally, the third alternative theory under which the City can prove a defendant guilty of disorderly conduct is to establish that the Defendant "intending to cause public inconvenience, annoyance or alarm, or recklessly creating a risk thereof, he (i) engages in fighting or in violent, tumultuous, or threatening behavior; (ii) makes unreasonable noises in a public place; (iii) makes unreasonable noises in a private place which can be heard in a public place; or (iv) obstructs vehicular or pedestrian traffic." Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-102 (1)(b) (2004). Appellee believes its most convincing case for the offense of disorderly conduct falls under § 76-9-102(b).

"Clearly, defendant's fighting with police and yelling of obscenities in public violated [§ 76-9-102]." State v. Griego, 933 P.2d 1003, 1009 (Utah App. 1997). In Griego, officers attempted to arrest the defendant, while he was intoxicated, and the defendant subsequently fought efforts of police to complete the arrest by use of force and continued yelling. *Id.* at 1004-1005. The evidence presented in this case is nearly identical to the facts presented to the Griego court. Testimony presented at trial by

several West Jordan police officers, as well as medical personnel at the scene, established that the Defendant was yelling obscenities and screaming throughout the entire altercation. Officers Kwant and Saunders both testified that the Defendant screamed at them and yelled profanities towards them before any physical altercation occurred between the officers and the Defendant. Ronald Chase indicated that after the physical altercation between the officers and the Defendant that the Defendant was screaming and yelling obscenities. Officer Hahn also stated that the Defendant was yelling obscenities after the physical altercation between Defendant and the officers. This testimony establishes that the yelling by the Defendant occurred not only during the physical altercation, but also before and after the altercation. A jury could reasonably conclude that the Defendant's yelling and screaming of obscenities at people, including those who were trying to give him medical treatment, was "unreasonable."

Furthermore, Defendant's conviction of resisting arrest shows that he used violent, tumultuous, or threatening behavior. Officers Kwant and Saunders indicated that Defendant kicked them and resisted their attempts to place him in handcuffs, after repeated commands to stop resisting, and relax. These actions fit the definition of "violent, tumultuous, or threatening behavior," which constitutes a class C misdemeanor if the defendant continues fighting after a request to desist.

The City's evidence presented at trial also supports the notion that Defendant possessed the requisite intent, which in this case is recklessness, to cause public alarm. It is well established that intent can be proven by circumstantial evidence. State v. James, 819 P.2d 781, 789 (Utah 1991). The court in James indicated that " Indeed, unless a

confession is made by the defendant concerning intent, or unless the court is somehow able to open the mind of the defendant to examine his motivations, intent is of necessity proven by circumstantial evidence.” Id. The testimony of witnesses is such that a juror could reasonably draw inferences from the evidence that has a basis in logic sufficient to prove that the Defendant possessed the requisite intent. See State v. Brown, 948 P.2d 337, 344 (Utah 1997).

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